1977

Howells Inc. A Corporation v. William Nelson, Aka William Lord Associate : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE
OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Howells, Inc., appeals from a judgment of the Fourth Judicial Court of Utah County, Honorable J. Robert Bullock presiding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

On September 1, 1976, the Fourth Judicial District Court awarded Judgment against Defendant in an amount of \$2,852.66 for a bad check which had been written by Defendant to Plaintiff in that amount. The trial court, however, refused to hold Defendant, William Nelson personally liable for said check and further refused to grant Plaintiff attorney's fees for the prosecution of the action. Thereafter Appellant filed notice of appeal.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a ruling from this Court as a matter of law that Defendant, William Nelson is personally liable for the amount of said check and that Plaintiff should have been awarded reasonable attorney's fees.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 5, 1976, Defendant, William Nelson issued a check to Howells, Inc., in an amount of \$2,852.66. The check was drawn on an account entitled "William Lord Associates," and was signed by William Nelson. When the check was given to Plaintiff's agent, Ettie Mosher, the Defendant asked Mrs. Mosher to hold the check for two weeks before depositing the same for payment. Said check was deposited on February 26, 1976, after which it was returned to Plaintiff unpaid, by reason of insufficient funds in the account of "William Lord Associates." The check was again submitted on approximately March 2, 1976, with the same result. The check still has not been paid.

At the time of trial on September 1, 1976, the Defendant did not appear, but was represented by his Counsel, Mr. Rex Lewis. The Plaintiff appeared

through it's agent Ettie Mosher, who testified concerning the issuance of the check to Plaintiff. Evidence was introduced to show that there was no corporation "William Lord Associates" nor was there any certificate filed for an assumed name with the Secretary of State. Evidence was also introduced to show that "William Lord Corporation" was a corporation incorporated in the State of Utah.

The trial court in its Findings of Fact, found that "William Lord Associates" was intended by Defendant to be an assumed name for "William Lord Corporation" and therefore refused to hold William Nelson personally liable for said check. The trial court also found that since the check had been given to Plaintiff by Defendant with a request to hold it for two weeks before depositing it, the check was a promissory note and not a check within the meaning of chapter 15 of title 7, Utah Code Annoated, as amended 1953.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT AWARDING
ATTORNEY'S FEES TO PLAINTIFF.

Chapter 15 of Title 7, Utah Code Annoated,
as amended, 1953, provides:

7-15-1. Drawing or issuing against non-existent account or insufficient funds-Intent to defraud-Civil liability-Damages.-(1) Any person who willfully, with intent to defraud, makes, draws or issues any check, draft or order upon any bank, banking association or other depository for the purpose of obtaining from any person, firm, partnership or corporation any money, merchandise, property, or other thing of value or paying for any services, wages, salary or rent, which check, draft or order which is not honored upon presentment because the maker, drawer or issuer does not have the account with the depository upon which the check, draft or order has been made or drawn, or does not have sufficient funds in such account or sufficient credit with such depository for payment of the check, draft or order in full, shall be liable to the holder of the check, draft or order in a civil action as provided in this section.

2) In such civil action the person making drawing or issuing the check, draft or order shall be liable to the holder of it for the amount thereon, for interest and all costs of collection, including all court costs and reasonable attorney's fees.

7-15-2. Civil action-Evidence of intent.- In any such civil action any of the following shall be prima facie evidence that the person making, drawing or issuing the check, draft or order did so willfully with an intention to defraud:

1) Proof that at the time of issuance, the maker, drawer or issuer did not have the account with the depository upon which the check, draft or order was made or drawn or did not have sufficient funds in his account or credit with the depository for payment in full of the check, draft or order, and that he failed within ten days after receiving notice of nonpayment or dishonor to pay the check, draft or order; or

2) Proof that when presentment was made

within a reasonable time, the maker, drawer or issuer did not have the account with the depository upon which the check, draft or order was drawn or made or did not have sufficient funds in such account or credit with such depository for payment in full of the check, draft or order, and that he failed within ten days after receiving notice of nonpayment or dishonor to pay the check, draft or order.

The trial court refused to award attorney's fees because it was of the opinion the check was not a check within the definition of the Uniform Commercial Code (R.9,10). Section 70A-3-103, Utah Code Annotated defines a check as an instrument drawn on a bank which meets the following requirements:

- 1) signed by the maker or drawer;
- 2) contain an unconditional promise or order to pay a sum certain in money and no other promise, order, obligation, or power given by the maker or drawer except as authorized by this chapter;
- 3) be payable to order or to bearer.

The problem the trial court apparently found with the check was whether it was payable on demand or at a definite time. Section 70A-3-108, Utah Code Annotated, as amended, 1953, defines payable on demand as "instruments payable on demand include those payable at sight or upon presentation and those in which no time for payment is

stated." The latter is certainly the situation in the instant case. This entire section of the Uniform Commercial Code also makes it quite clear that all of the requirements set forth, must appear on the face of the instrument itself. It is therefore obvious that the instrument in question in this case is undoubtedly a check as it meets all these requirements on its face. No matter what statements accompanied its presentation, this instrument was still a check within the definition of the Utah Uniform Commercial Code.

The trial court also refused to grant attorney's fees on the basis that there was no evidence of fraudulent intent on the part of the Defendant because at the time the check was issued to Plaintiff it was accompanied with a statement that there were in sufficient funds in the bank to clear the check but that a deposit would be made and the check could be deposited in two weeks. Such a position by the trial court however, was clearly contra to the provisions of Section 7-15-2 (2), Utah Code Annotated, as amended, 1953. This section, as quoted above states what is prima facie evidence of the intent to defraud. The statute provides that proof that the check was dishonored upon presentation to the payee bank by reason of insufficient funds in the account and failure

of the maker to pay the check within ten days after he is given notice of the dishonor constitutes prima facie evidence that the check was fraudulently issued within the meaning of the statute. In the instant case there was clearly no problem about notice having been given to the Plaintiff that his check had been dishonored upon presentment to the bank. Mrs. Mosher testified that she personally notified the Defendant that his check had been dishonored upon two different occasions and the check still had not been paid at the time of trial (R. 4). The trial court's argument that the statements accompanied with the check removed any intention to defraud would apply only to the sub paragraph one of Section 7-15-2. However, the situation in the instant case comes under sub paragraph two in that at the time of presentment of the check for payment there was insufficient funds in the account for payment of the same. The Defendant's statements to the Plaintiff at the time of issuance of the check clearly have no bearing upon the second subparagraph of this statute.

It is readily apparent that the trial court erred in not awarding Plaintiff reasonable attorney's fees for this action in that first, the instrument in question was indeed check within the meaning

of the Utah Uniform Commercial Code and, second, that the situation involved is clearly the situation contemplated in Section 7-15-2(2) Utah Code Annoated, as amended, 1953. Therefore reasonable attorney's fees should have been awarded.

POINT TWO

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT HOLDING
DEFENDANT WILLIAM NELSON PERSONALLY
LIABLE AND HOLDING THAT THE CHECK WAS A
CORPORATE OBLIGATION.

In this case the trial court refused to hold the Defendant, William Nelson personally liable for the issuance of the bad check in question and awarded judgment against William Lord Corporation. The court based its ruling upon its finding "That William Lord Associates was intended by Defendant to be an assumed name for William Lord Corporation." (Findings of Fact, No. 8) Such a finding by the trial court was clearly against the weight of the evidence and contra to Utah Law.

It is a clearly recognized legal principal and this court has held on numerous occasions that a corporation is clearly and uniquely a creature of statute, Shaw v Bailey-McCune Co., 355 P.2d 321, 11

Utah 2d 93; Utah State Building Commission v Great American Indemnity Company, 140 P.2d 763. 105 Utah 11.

In order for such a legal entity to come into being strict statutory requirements concerning the creation of the corporation must be followed if the corporation is to become incorporated and thereby afford the incorporators the protection from liability for which such corporations are created.

Most courts will, as has this Court, in some instances however, infer the existence of a defacto corporation where it is apparent that substantial efforts have been made to fullfill the requirements of the statutes regarding incorporation but the incorporation has failed due to some technicality which was unforeseen or unknown by the incorporators. In cases of this type however, it must be shown that substantial efforts were made on the part of the incorporators to conform to the requirements of Chapter 10, Title 16, Utah Code Annoated, as amended 1953. Vincent Drug Co. v. State Tax Comm., 17 Utah 2d 202, 407 P.2d 183.

In the instant case, however, we have no such shwoing, In fact we have no evidence whatsoever concerning any attempt of any person to incorporate a

company known as "William Lord Associates." All we have in this case is the inference of the trial court that since there was a corporation known as William Lord Corporation then William Lord Associates was intended to be an assumed name for that corporation. There clearly was no evidence to support this finding by the court as there was no evidence at all concerning any intentions of the Defendant. The only conclusion supported by the evidence is that the Defendant William Nelson be held personally liable.

This position has been supported by this Court in Merchants Bank v. Goodfell, 140 P.2d 759. In that case the court ruled that where a draft was signed by one person, but had the name of another person or entity on both the upper and lower corner of the check, the person signing the check was the one liable for its payment. The court in its opinion based its conclusions on the fact that the name of the account on which a draft was drawn was not necessarily the only person who should be held liable for payment of the check or draft. This was clearly the situation in the instant case.

The trial court also did not have sufficient evidence on which to base its finding that William

Lord Associates was intended to be an assumed name for William Lord Corporation in that Defendant had not complied with the provisions of Section 42-2-5, Utah Code Annoated, as amended, 1953. This section requires:

Every person or persons who shall carry on, conduct or transact business in this state under an assumed name, whether such business be carried on, conducted or transacted as an individual, association, ownership, corporation or otherwise, shall file in the office of the Secretary of State a certificate setting forth the name under which such business is, or is to be carried on, conducted or transacted....

This statute is quite clear in its purpose and scope and its requirements are clearly mandatory and prerequisite to the transaction of any business within the State of Utah. In the instant case the dictates of the statute clearly were not followed. No certificate of assumed and true name was filed entitling William Lord Corporation to conduct business in the State of Utah under the name William Lord Associates. Therefore any obligation entered into by "William Lord Associates" would necessarily have to be, in effect, an obligation entered into by the person who had attempted to obligate the company; in this case the Defendant William Nelson.

The trial court's reasoning and holding in

this case sets a very dangerous precedent. The allowance of an inference by any court that any given entity was actually an assumed name for some corporation is a very dangerous precedent in that it opens the door for any person, when sued upon a personal obligation, to always raise the defense that "this really isn't a personal obligation, because I always intended to be a corporation but never quite got around to it."

From the foregoing it is quite evident that due to the fact that no certificate for an assumed name was filed with the Secretary of State and also that there is no Utah corporation named "William Lord Associates" that the Defendant William Nelson should be personally liable.

POINT THREE

EVEN IF THE COURT HAD SUFFICIENT GROUNDS TO CONCLUDE THAT THE CHECK IN QUESTION WAS PROPERLY A CORPORATE OBLIGATION, THE DEFENDANT, WILLIAM NELSON SHOULD STILL BE PERSONALLY LIABLE.

Even if the Court did have sufficient grounds to find that the Defendant William Nelson had always intended and was in fact doing business as William Lord Corporation, he should still be held personally liable. Most courts hold that generally a director or officer of a corporation does not incur personal liability for its wrongful acts merely by reason of his

official character. However, due to the unique circumstances of this case, William Nelson should be held personally liable for the amount of said check by reason of his being a director of the corporation and participating in an attempt to defraud the Plaintiff through William Lord Corporation.

The main basis of this theory is the fact that the checks were fraudulently issued by a director of this corporation and, as argued in point one of this brief, the court must presume that the check was issued with the wilfull intent to defraud the plaintiff. In Klockner v Keser, (1971) 20 Colo App 476, 488 P.2d, 1135, the Colorado Supreme Court held the directors of a corporation personally liable for bad checks which were issued on the corporation account and signed by the Defendant. The pertinent rule, indicated the Colorado Court, was that although officers and directors of a corporation may not be held liable for the torts of the corporation solely by reason of their office, they may be held liable personally for the results of tortious, fraudulent misrepresentations where they approved of and sanctioned the making of such representations and knew or should have known of the fallcity of the rep-

resentations and the consequential damages which were likely to result therefrom.

A similar holding was also reached in the 1973 case of Meehen v. Adams Enterprises, Inc., 507 P.2d 849, 211 Kan 253. In that case, as in Klockner, the Kansas Supreme Court ruled that the officers or directors of a corporation shall be personally liable for a bad check "if it was apparent that at the time the checks were drawn the officers or directors knew or should have known that there were no funds in the bank to pay the check." *supra*, 851, 852.

This same result was also reached in a New York case, Lippman Packing Corporation v. Rose, (1953) 120 NYS 2d 461. In that case the court again ruled that officers or directors of the corporation would be personally liable for a bad check where the Defendant was chargeable with the knowledge of the state of the corporation's bank account. In Lippman it was again emphasized that the Defendant's conduct amounted to actionable fraud and therefore held him personally liable.

In each of the above cases it was noted that the major reason for the Court granting relief to the Plaintiffs against the Defendant officer or director

of the corporation personally was that there was substantial evidence that the Defendant knew or should have known the status of the bank account of the corporation and that, nonetheless, he still wrote a check which was subsequently dishonored upon presentation. This is exactly the situation in the instant case. In this case, by the presumption of Section 7-15-2(2), Utah Code Annotated, argued in point one, we have prima facie evidence that this check was issued with the wilfull intent to defraud the Plaintiff with no evidence to rebut that presumption. It therefore follows that the situation in this case is directly analogous to the three cases quoted above. This Court then, in recognizing the soundness of the logic behind the holdings in the above three cases, is therefore urged to adopt a similar rule and hold the Defendant, William Nelson personally liable for the amount of this check.

CONCLUSION

Appellant respectfully submits that the trial court erred in not awarding Plaintiff reasonable attorney's fees and in not holding Defendant William Nelson personally liable for the amount of said check plus interest, costs of court, and reasonable attorney's fees. The trial