1977

Howells Inc. A Corporation v. William Nelson, Aka William Lord Associate : Brief of Respondentt

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action by the plaintiff to collect the sum of \$2,852.66 owed by the defendant and to hold defendant William Nelson personally liable for the debt. Plaintiff also claims attorney's fees because the defendant gave the plaintiff an insufficient funds check on the account in the amount of \$2,164.19.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

On September 1, 1976, the case was tried without a jury before the Honorable J. Robert Bullock, Judge. The Court awarded judgment in favor of the plaintiff and against William Lord Corporation, doing business as William Lord Associates.

Appellant is attempting to appeal from the judgment of the trial Court.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks a dismissal of the appeal of the appellant, or in the alternative, an affirmance of the judgment of the trial court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent disagrees with several of the facts stated by the appellant and believes that the facts so stated are incomplete.

On February 5, 1976, a check was issued to Howells, Inc., on the account of William Lord Associates, and over the signature of William H. Nelson. The check was in the amount of \$2,164.19. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 1). Judgment of \$2,852.66 was entered on stipulation of the parties, that being the total amount due on the account of the defendant.

When defendant, William Nelson, delivered the check to the plaintiff's offices, he had a conversation with the Secretary-Treasurer and credit manager, Ettie Mosher. Mr. Nelson requested Mr. Mosher to hold the check for two weeks until he had made a bank deposit. (R. 10, 13). The check was presented to the bank on February 26, 1976, after which it was returned to the plaintiff unpaid by reason of insufficient funds in the account of "William Lord Associates". The check was again submitted on approximately March 2, 1976, and was again returned unpaid.

At trial it was shown that there was no corporation "William Lord Associates", nor had a certificate of doing business under an assumed name been filed with the Secretary

of State. It was, however, agreed by the parties and found by the Court that William Lord Corporation was doing business as William Lord Associates, William Lord Corporation being a duly incorporated corporation in the State of Utah.

Plaintiff claimed that since defendant knew at the time of the issuance of the check that there were insufficient funds, Utah Code Annotated 7-15-1 and 2, make defendant William Nelson personally liable, entitle plaintiff to attorney's fees.

The trial court found that because the check had been given to the plaintiff by the defendant with a request to hold it for two weeks before depositing it, the check was a promissory note and not a check within the meaning of Utah Code Annotated 7-15-1. Consequently, at the close of trial on September 1, 1976, the Court awarded judgment in the amount of \$2,164.19 against William Lord Corporation. (R. 24).

On September 14, 1976, counsel for plaintiff submitted to the Court a Judgment and Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. On September 16, 1976, the Court signed the Judgment and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, but the Judgment erroneously awarded judgment against "William Nelson, Inc.", instead of William Lord Corporation. (R. 36, 37, 38-40). Consequently, on September 21, 1976, the defendant filed a "Motion to Conform Judgment to the Proof or in Lieu thereof, Motion for New Trial". (R. 33-34). The defendant pointed out to the Court that Judgment had been erroneously entered against William Nelson Inc., a corpora-

tion instead of William Lord Corporation. Defendant asked that in the event the Judgment was not modified to conform to the proof, then a new trial should be granted, since the Judgment entered was not supported by any evidence. Counsel for plaintiff filed no response to the Motion and on October 14, 1976, the Court granted defendant's motion to Conform Judgment to the proof and ordered counsel for the defendant to prepare an appropriate amended judgment. (R. 32).

On October 20, 1976, counsel for plaintiff filed a Notice of Appeal, appealing to this Court from the "Judgment" of the trial court entered on the 16th day of September, 1976. The Notice of Appeal was dated September 22, 1976, but was, in fact, not mailed to the defendant until October 12, and not filed with the clerk until October 20. On October 21, the Court signed the Amended Judgment and the Amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. The Amended Judgment awarded judgment to the plaintiff against William Lord Corporation in the amount of \$2,852.66, and awarded plaintiff no attorney's fees.

Plaintiff did not amend its Notice of Appeal to include the Amended Judgment nor did it file a subsequent Notice of Appeal. As the case now stands, the plaintiff has appealed from the original judgment entered by the Court but has not appealed from the amended judgment. It should be remembered that the original judgment granted judgment against William Nelson, Inc., a corporation. William Nelson, Inc., is not named as a defendant in this action, nor was that term ever

used by anyone prior to its inclusion in the judgment prepared by counsel for plaintiff.

POINT I

THIS COURT HAS NO JURISDICTION TO CONSIDER THIS APPEAL.

Plaintiff's Notice of Appeal states that it is appealing from the judgment of the trial court entered on the 16th day of September 1976. (R. 31).

Plaintiff made no attempt to amend its notice of appeal or file a new notice of appeal when judgment was entered on October 21, 1976. As a result, plaintiff appeals from a judgment which has been rendered null and void by an amendment, thereby making plaintiff's appeal moot.

Appellant has completely failed to recognize the amended judgment, never mentions the amended judgment in its brief, and is apparently unconcerned about it.

While respondent realizes that defects in appellant procedure are subject to waiver, U.R.C.P. 73, State v. Good, 9 Ariz.App. 388, 452 P.2d 715 (1960); that the object of a notice of appeal is to advise the opposite party that an appeal has been taken, Nunley v. Stan Katz Real Estate Inc., 15 Utah2d 126, 388 P.2d 798 (1964); and that rules and statutes implementing the right of appeal are liberally construed and applied in the furtherance of justice, Wood v. Turner, 18 Utah2d 229, 419 P.2d 634 (1966); in the present case there is a technical defect in the appellate instruments of the plaintiff which this Court cannot correct.

Respondent submits that the case of Nunley v. Stan Katz

Real Estate Inc., supra, while different in fact is correct in principle and binding in the present case.

In Nunley, a judgment was entered and 11 days later motions for a new trial and to amend the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were filed. The trial court heard the motions and granted an amendment to the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and a judgment was subsequently entered. Defendant appealed from the subsequent judgment.

In deciding the case, this court was "initially faced with a procedural question, i.e., whether this Court can act on an appeal from an admittedly void judgment." It was determined that the subsequent judgment was void because the motion for a new trial and to amend the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law was filed too late for the lower court to act. Appellant claimed that the notice of appeal, while designating the subsequent judgment, was a clerical error and should have designated the prior judgment which appeal would then have been timely, since it would have been within the thirty day period.

This Court in Nunley determined that there would be no problem if it were faced with only one judgment appealed from, but in fact, there were two judgments. In deciding the case, the Court stated:

Respondent is entitled to know specifically which judgment is being appealed. The second judgment being different from the first, and in addition, void takes this case from the realm of a mere clerical error as was evidentially made in the Price case. The date becomes material in this

instance and we are not inclined to correct appellant's error. Nunley, supra, at 800.

The Court in Nunley concluded that an appeal cannot be taken from a void judgment. While the fact situation was essentially backwards from that in the present case, the same principles apply. Plaintiff appeals from a void judgment, thereby depriving this Court of jurisdiction to hear the matter.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN NOT AWARDING ATTORNEY'S FEES TO PLAINTIFF.

As stated above, Judgment of the trial court awarded judgment against William Lord Corporation of \$2,852.66 and costs in the amount of \$25.00, but denied judgment against defendant William Nelson personally and awarded plaintiff no attorney's fees.

Appellant contends that Utah Code Annotated §7-15-1 and 2 entitle it to attorney's fees in this action. In order to make U.C.A. §7-15-1 applicable, the following elements must be established:

1. The person must willfully, with intent to defraud draw any check, draft or order, and
2. The document must in fact be a check, draft, or order.

These two elements have not been established by the appellant.

First, the instrument signed by Mr. Nelson and given to the plaintiff was essentially a post dated check and there-

fore, a promissory note. It is undisputed that at the time of the transfer of the document, plaintiff's agent was informed that the check should not be deposited for a period of two weeks since there would be insufficient funds to cover the check during that time. (R. 10, 13). In State v. Bruce, 1 Utah2d 136, 262 P.2d 960 (1953), this Court, in a criminal case, held that a post dated check could not be used in a conviction for criminal fraud. The Court stated at 962:

The portions of our statute relating to bogus checks, material to the present inquiry, are:

"Any person who * * * wilfully, with intent to defraud, makes * * * or delivers any check, * * * knowing at the time * * * that the maker * * * has not sufficient funds in, or credit with said bank * * * for the payment of such check * * * is punishable * * *.

"The making, * * * or delivering of such check, * * * shall be prima facie evidence of intent to defraud." (Emphasis added).

The emphasized words indicate that the statute denounces the passing of a bad check only where there is misrepresentation that the maker has money or credit at the time the bad check is passed. It logically follows that it does not apply when both maker and payee know that the check is postdated. Under such circumstances the clear inference is that the maker has not money to pay the check at the time, but intends to cover it by the postdate. Where the payee accepts it with that understanding, he is not relying on a representation that the maker has money in the bank at the time, but rather that it will be covered when it is presented on its date. This amounts to a promise to be performed in the future. Obviously such a promise may be made in good faith, but plans go awry, unexpected

or uncontrollable events intervene, or a bona fide change of mind occurs, any one of which would negative the existence of an intent to defraud at the time the check was passed, thus eliminating an element essential to constitute the crime. Such reasoning is the basis of the general rule that a promise of performance in the future will usually not support a charge of fraud. We so held with respect to a postdated check in the case of *State v. Trogstad*. (Emphasis added).

For additional cases holding that acceptance of a postdated check or one wherein the drawer indicates that the check should be held for a period of time because of insufficient funds, is equivalent to an extension of credit; see *Seaboard Oil Company v. Cunningham*, 51 F.2d 321, cert. den. 284 U.S. 657, 76 L.Ed. 557, 52 S.Ct. 35 (1931); *People v. Poyett*, 99 Cal.Rptr. 750, 492 P.2d 1150 (1972); *People v. Meller*, 185 Colo. 389, 524 P.2d 1366 (1974); *State v. Eikleberger*, 72 Idaho 245, 239 P.2d 1069 (1951); *People v. Mazeloff*, 229 App.Div. 451, 242 N.Y.S. 623 (1930).

The above authorities clearly indicate that a check given with a representation that there are presently insufficient funds to cover the check and that it should be held for a number of days proscribe the application of U.C.A. §7-15-1 since the transaction becomes an extension of credit.

In addition, the document signed by William Nelson does not constitute a "check" within the meaning of U.C.A. §70A-3-104. That section defines a check as a "draft drawn on a bank and payable on demand". This same section states that to be a negotiable instrument, an instrument is either

"payable on demand or at a definite time". Since the instrument in the present case was not payable on demand but was payable at a definite time, it was not a check as defined in this section and the only other applicable definition is that of a "note".

Utah Code Annotated §70A-3-109, defines "definite time" as "payable or before a stated date or at a fixed period after a stated date".

In the present case, the instrument negotiated by defendant William Nelson was not a "check" as defined by the Uniform Commercial Code, and therefore, appellant failed to establish an essential element required by U.C.A. §7-15-1.

The second element essential for a claim under U.C.A. §7-15-1 is also lacking, that of willful intent to defraud at the time of the making of the instrument.

As previously stated, it is undisputed that the Secretary-Treasurer for the plaintiff accepted the check on the representation by the defendant that it was to be held for two weeks until such time that he could deposit funds in the account.

Essentially the same fact situation occurred in State v. Trogstad, 98 Utah 565, 100 P.2d 564 (1940), except that it involved a criminal prosecution. In that case, this Court ruled at 566:

The statute provides that there must be proved (a) an intent to defraud, and (b) a knowledge that the maker or drawer did not have (1) sufficient funds

or (2) credit with the bank for payment. The essence of the charge is that the injured party must have relied upon some false and deceitful pretense. The check must have been drawn, uttered or delivered willfully and with the intent to defraud and knowing there was neither sufficient funds nor credit with the firm or person upon whom it was drawn.

The specific intent to defraud must be found from the evidence. Such intent must be shown to exist in the mind of the maker or drawer. Intent may be found from the circumstances. Reliance by the receiver of the check, draft or order upon the representations made at the time of the transaction and damage resulting therefrom are elements of the fraud. If the receiver accepted the check, draft or order as evidence of a loan, an essential element of fraud would be wanting. In the instant case, there is evidence that the transaction was one between a borrower and a lender.

Mrs. Frakes knew that there were no funds available for payment of the check immediately, when she received the \$300 check, but that it was to be held for a few days until it was good. This is in accord with Mrs. Frake's own testimony. She held it for some time and tried to collect upon it. In other words, Mrs. Frakes treated the check as a promise to pay in the future, rather than as a check. This rebuts any idea that the check was delivered as a check with intent to defraud. (Emphasis added).

While U.C.A. §7-15-2 includes a presumption of fraud, if there are insufficient funds when the check is drawn or presented, that presumption is rebutted if the payee accepts the check as a promise to pay and not as a negotiable instrument. That was exactly the situation in State v. Trogstad and in the present case. See also Meller, supra; In Re Griffin, 83 Cal.Appl. 779, 257 P.2d 458 (1927); and People v. Burnett,

39 Cal.2d 556, 247 P.2d 828, 1952.

In the present case the appellant failed to prove that the document accepted was a check, was accepted as a check by the plaintiff's agent, or that at the time of the acceptance the defendant had the intent to defraud the plaintiff.

POINT III

DEFENDANT WILLIAM NELSON IS NOT PERSONALLY LIABLE ON THE JUDGMENT IN THE PRESENT CASE.

Appellant contends that Defendant William Nelson, since he signed the check in question, is personally liable for the amount of the check. The trial court found that William Lord Associates was an assumed name for William Lord Corporation, and since the defendant was an officer for that corporation, he had no personal liability when he signed the document.

Appellant contends that since the defendant failed to comply with the assumed name statute, U.C.A. §42-2-5, defendant William Nelson is personally liable for the check. What appellant fails to realize is that the assumed name statute merely precludes the filing of a lawsuit by one who has failed to properly register.

Penalties. Any person or persons who shall carry one, conduct or transact any such subbusiness under an assumed name without having complied with the provisions of this act, shall not sue, prosecute or maintain any action, suit, counterclaim, cross-complaint or preceeding in any of the courts of this state until the provisions of this chapter have been complied with, and any such person or persons so failing to comply shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. U.C.A. §42-2-10.

There is nothing in the assumed name statute nor in the provisions relating to corporations which makes an individual officer of the corporation liable for failure of the corporation to register for doing business under an assumed name.

Appellant's attempt to place liability on Mr. Nelson through case law is equally misplaced. All of the cases cited by appellant involve an officer or director who knew that there were insufficient funds at the time the check was written but failed to inform the other party thereby willfully defrauding the payee. In the present case, there was no fraud, and therefore, there can be no imposition of liability upon defendant William Nelson.

CONCLUSION

Plaintiff's appeal is defective, and consequently, this Court has no jurisdiction to hear the matter.

If the Court does consider the matter, the appellant has nevertheless failed to establish that at the time the document was issued by William Lord Associates, that there was an intent to defraud the plaintiff, and consequently, the document does not constitute a check and further, defendant William Nelson cannot be personally liable for its issuance.

Respondent respectfully requests the Court to dismiss the appeal, or in the alternative, to affirm the judgment of the trial court.